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November 4, 2022 

 

Honorable Wm. Patrick Madden, Mayor  

Members of the City Council  

City of Troy  

City Hall  

Troy, NY 12180 

 

Report Number: B22-5-7 

 

Dear Mayor Madden and Members of the City Council:  

 

Chapter 721 of the Laws of 1994, as amended, authorized the City of Troy (City) to issue debt not 

to exceed $24,706,000 to liquidate the accumulated deficits in the City’s general fund for the years 

ending December 31, 1993, 1994 and 1995. New York State Local Finance Law Section 10.10(d) 

requires all municipalities that have been authorized to issue obligations to fund operating deficits 

to submit to the State Comptroller each year, starting with the fiscal year during which the 

municipality is authorized to issue the deficit obligations, and for each subsequent fiscal year 

during which the deficit obligations are outstanding, their proposed budget for the next succeeding 

fiscal year. 

 

The proposed budget must be submitted no later than 30 days before the date scheduled for the 

City Council’s (Council) vote on its adoption or the last date on which the budget may be finally 

adopted, whichever is earlier. The State Comptroller must examine the proposed budget and make 

recommendations on the proposed budget as deemed appropriate. Recommendations, if any, are 

made after the examination of the City’s revenue and expenditure estimates. 

 

The Council, no later than five days prior to the adoption of the budget, must review all 

recommendations made by the State Comptroller and may make adjustments to its proposed 

budget consistent with those recommendations contained in this report. All recommendations that 

the Council rejects must be explained in writing to our Office. The City may not issue bonds unless 

and until adjustments to the proposed budget consistent with any recommendations of the State 

Comptroller are made, or any recommendations that are rejected have been explained in writing 

to the State Comptroller. 

 

Our Office has recently completed a review of the City’s budget for the 2023 fiscal year. The 

objective of the review was to provide an independent evaluation of the proposed budget. Our 
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Town of Halfmoon and Water Commissioners of the Town of Waterford (Commissioners) Water 

Rents – The proposed water fund budget includes estimated revenues of $1,550,000 for water rents 

assessed to the Town of Halfmoon and Commissioners,1 which is a $150,000 (9 percent) decrease 

from the 2022 adopted budget. However, based on the recorded revenues for the first nine months 

of 2022, we project that the City will only realize approximately $1.2 million of the estimated $1.7 

million in water rent revenues in 2022, resulting in a potential revenue shortfall of approximately 

$500,000.  

 

In recent years, these revenues have been impacted2 because the Town of Halfmoon and 

Commissioners entered water sales agreements with other entities, purchasing a portion of their 

water supply from them instead of only the City. The Town of Halfmoon entered a water sales 

agreement with the Saratoga County Water Authority, requiring the Town to purchase a minimum 

of one million gallons per day. The Commissioners also entered a water sales agreement with the 

City of Cohoes, which does not contain a required minimum purchase amount. 

 

In addition, the City’s water sales agreements with the Town of Halfmoon and Commissioners do 

not contain required minimum purchase amounts. As a result, City officials’ ability to estimate the 

amount of water that the Town of Halfmoon and Commissioners will purchase from the City and 

the corresponding revenues to be realized is hindered.  

 

However, if the City realizes revenues in 2023 similar to 2021 and 2022, estimated revenues for 

these water rents could be overestimated by approximately $350,000. We caution the Council to 

be mindful of this when adopting the budget. In addition, City officials should closely monitor 

these revenue estimates throughout 2023 and develop a plan to balance the budget in the event the 

revenue projections are not fully realized. 

 

Fire Department Overtime 

 

The proposed general fund budget includes approximately $1.5 million in fire department overtime 

appropriations, which is a $37,500 decrease from the 2022 adopted budget. The City incurred fire 

department overtime expenditures of approximately $1.7 million in 2020 and $1.9 million in 2021. 

In addition, based on the recorded expenditures of approximately $1.7 million as of September 30, 

2022, we project that the City will incur approximately $2.4 million in fire department overtime 

expenditures in 2022. City officials told us the expenditures in 2022 have been predominately 

impacted by vacant positions in the fire department, resulting in employees working additional 

overtime.  

 

City officials told us the estimate for 2023 is based on an anticipated significant reduction in fire 

department overtime expenditures due to the City’s plan to fill all vacant positions in the fire 

department in 2023. However, if the City incurs fire department overtime expenditures in 2023 

 
1 On a quarterly basis, the City assesses water rents to the Town of Halfmoon and Commissioners based on the gallons 

of water they were each sold for the quarter and the established water rate in their respective water sales agreement 

with the City. 

2 The City realized revenues for water rents assessed to the Town of Halfmoon and Commissioners of approximately 

$2.3 million in 2018, $2.1 million in 2019, $1.7 million in 2020 and $1.2 million in 2021.   
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similar to 2022, appropriations for fire department overtime could be underestimated by 

approximately $900,000. We caution the Council to be mindful of this when adopting the budget. 

In addition, due to the significance of these appropriations, City officials should closely monitor 

these appropriations throughout 2023 and modify the budget as necessary.  

 

Equipment and Vehicles 

 

The City’s capital plan in the proposed budget includes the purchase of equipment and vehicles 

for the general and refuse funds totaling $3,132,500 and $570,000, respectively. Although the 

proposed general fund budget includes appropriations for the purchase of equipment and vehicles 

of $353,000, only $220,000 of these appropriations correspond to the expenditures included in the 

general fund capital plan.3 As a result, $2,912,500 (93 percent) of the City's 2023 capital plan for 

the purchase of equipment and vehicles for the general fund remains unfunded through the 

proposed budget.  

 

In addition, the proposed refuse fund budget does not include appropriations for equipment and 

capital outlay. Consequently, all of the City's 2023 capital plan for the purchase of equipment and 

vehicles for the refuse fund remains unfunded through the proposed budget.  

 

In recent years, the City has financed general and refuse fund equipment and vehicle purchases by 

issuing debt,4 rather than by including financing sources in the budget. The City’s capital plan 

outlines, and City officials told us, that any general and refuse fund expenditures that the City 

incurs in 2023 for the purchase of equipment and vehicles that are not currently financed through 

the proposed budget will be financed by issuing debt.  

 

While the City has included some current financing sources for the purchase of equipment and 

vehicles in the proposed budget, we encourage City officials to identify additional sources and to 

include them in the budget instead of continuing to significantly rely on the issuance of debt to 

finance these purchases. 

 

Collective Bargaining Agreements 

 

Three of the City’s six collective bargaining agreements (CBAs) are set to expire on December 

31, 2022.5 The CBAs cover the salaries and wages of approximately 120 City employees. The City 

faces potential increased salary and wage costs when these agreements are settled. 

 

The 2023 proposed budget includes a contingency appropriation of $770,000 in the general fund. 

The contingency appropriation provides some financial flexibility related to any settlements. City 

 
3 The $220,000 is for the purchase of a portion of the $320,000 for police department vehicles included in the capital 

plan. 

4 The City issued bond anticipation notes in 2017 through 2022 for the purchase of equipment and/or vehicles totaling 

$370,000, $642,695, $3,544,000, $2,377,000, $65,215, and $1,588,285, respectively. The City also issued serial bonds 

in 2019, 2020 and 2022 to redeem a portion of outstanding bond anticipation notes issued by the City for the purchase 

of equipment and vehicles totaling $616,000, $1,456,464, and $836,385, respectively.   

5 The City’s CBAs with the Uniformed Firefighters Association, Uniformed Fire Chiefs Association and Command 

Officers Association of Troy. 






